

Journal of Environmental Management

Journal of Environmental Management 85 (2007) 791-800

www.elsevier.com/locate/jenvman

Review

Impacts of recreation and tourism on plant biodiversity and vegetation in protected areas in Australia

Catherine Marina Pickering*, Wendy Hill

International Centre for Ecotourism Research, Griffith University, PMB 50 Gold Coast Mail Centre, Gold Coast, Qld. 9726, Australia

Received 23 March 2006; received in revised form 30 October 2006; accepted 12 November 2006 Available online 17 January 2007

Abstract

This paper reviews recent research into the impact of recreation and tourism in protected areas on plant biodiversity and vegetation communities in Australia. Despite the international significance of the Australian flora and increasing visitation to protected areas there has been limited research on recreational and tourism impacts in Australia. As overseas, there are obvious direct impacts of recreation and tourism such as clearing of vegetation for infrastructure or damage from trampling, horse riding, mountain biking and off road vehicles. As well, there are less obvious but potentially more severe indirect impacts. This includes self-propagating impacts associated with the spread of some weeds from trails and roads. It also includes the severe impact on native vegetation, including many rare and threatened plants, from spread of the root rot fungus *Phytopthora cinnamomi*. This review highlights the need for more recreational ecology research in Australia.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Australia; Conservation; Plant biodiversity; Protected areas

Contents

1.	Introduction	792
2.	Recreation in protected areas in Australia	792
3.	Recreation and tourism impacts on vegetation in protected areas in Australia.	792
	3.1. Impacts associated with infrastructure for tourism and recreation	. 793
	3.2. Impacts associated with tourism activities	. 794
	3.3. Factors that affect impacts from recreation and tourism.	. 794
	3.4. Indirect impacts from tourism and recreation	. 797
	3.4.1. Addition of nutrients	797
	3.4.2. Impacts of weeds	797
	3.4.3. Impact of pathogens	797
4.	Tourism impacts on rare and threatened plants	797
5.	Recommendations for future ecological research	798
6.	Research needs for managing/monitoring of impacts	798
7.	Conclusions	798
	Acknowledgements	798
	References	799

*Corresponding author. Tel.: +61755948259; fax: +61755948067. *E-mail address:* c.pickering@griffith.edu.au (C.M. Pickering).

 $^{0301\}text{-}4797/\$$ - see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2006.11.021

1. Introduction

Nature-based tourism and recreation, including in protected areas, is increasing worldwide and in Australia (Newsome et al., 2002a; Worboys et al., 2005). Overseas, a range of direct and indirect impacts of recreation activities in protected areas on vegetation have been documented in both observational and experimental studies (see recent reviews by Liddle, 1997; Leung and Marion, 2000; Newsome et al., 2002a; Buckley, 2004a, b; Cole, 2004; Newsome et al., 2004). Some impacts cause such damage that they alter the value of areas for tourism and recreation itself. In Australia, research into recreation ecology lags behind other regions, such as North America, despite there being equal need and it being of equivalent land area (Sun and Walsh, 1998; Buckley, 2005).

Damage to the Australian flora from recreation and tourism is important, as the flora is recognised internationally as important due to its high biodiversity, endemism, ancient origins and distinctive adaptations (Barlow, 1994; DEST, 1994; Williams et al., 2001). For example, Australia is recognised as one of the world's 17 mega diverse countries with ~23,000 native vascular plant species, ~85% of which are endemic (DEST, 1994). There are also 14 endemic plant families, including several representing early stages in the evolution of flowering plants (DEST, 1994; Williams et al., 2001).

Unfortunately, despite this recognition of the importance of the native flora, Australia currently has the fifth highest rate of land clearance in the world which is the highest of any developed nation with more than 564,800 ha of native vegetation cleared in 2000 (Williams et al., 2001). Land clearance since European settlement has resulted in the extinction of 61 plant species with an additional 1241 plant species vulnerable or threatened with extinction (DEH, 2005).

In part, to preserve important ecosystems and maintain populations of rare and threatened species, over 80,895,000 ha (over 10% of the Australian landmass) is currently conserved in over 7720 protected areas (CAPAD, 2004, Table 1). The importance of the flora in many of these protected areas is reflected in their international recognition, with many World Heritage Areas (Worboys et al., 2005). Recently, 15 Australian biodiversity hotspots have been recognised in areas that have many endemic species and are under immediate threat from human activities (DEH, 2003).

2. Recreation in protected areas in Australia

Nature-based recreation and tourism is popular in Australia, with large numbers of local and international tourists attracted by the numerous rich and diverse natural systems in national parks including World Heritage areas (Worboys et al., 2005). It is estimated that there are 84 million visits annually to protected areas in Australia, most of which is domestic tourism (Newsome et al., 2002a;

Tal	bl	e	1

Extent	of	Australian	terrestrial	protected	areas	categoris	ed by	World
Conser	vati	on Union (formerly Ir	nternationa	l Unio	n for the	Conse	rvation
of Nati	ire)	IUCN prot	ected area	manageme	ent cate	egories (C	APAL), 2004)

IUCN category	Number	Area (ha)
IA	2090	18,212,695
IB	38	4,099,515
II	644	29,678,100
III	2019	970,517
IV	2060	2,818,936
Total	6851	55,779,762
V	139	919,746
VI	730	24,195,591
Total	869	25,115,337
Total	7720	80,895,099

Categories I-IV are reserved primarily for conservation.

Worboys et al., 2005). With this rise in tourism numbers there follows an inevitable increase in negative environmental impacts (Whinam and Chilcott, 2003; Liddle, 1997; Leung and Marion, 2000; Newsome et al., 2002a; Buckley, 2004a, b). In some cases impacts can even effect the quality of the tourism experience itself (Newsome et al., 2004).

Recreation and tourism activities in protected areas in Australia are usually restricted to those that have been considered to have less environmental impact and emphasise enjoyment of the natural values of the area (Buckley, 2004a; Worboys et al., 2005). Also, use of protected areas is often zoned, with some areas highly developed and extensively modified through provision of infrastructure such as sealed roads, carparks, toilets, visitor centres, picnic areas, camping areas and accommodation. These areas often attract large numbers of people. In contrast, other zones within the same protected areas may be classified remote (which can be designated as 'wilderness') where there is limited access, no or few facilities, and only small numbers of visitors, with restriction on the types of activities permitted (Worboys et al., 2005). For example, activities permitted under certain conditions in urban/developed zones of New South Wales national parks include snow sports (alpine skiing, snowboarding, cross-county skiing, ice climbing), camping in formal campsites, scenic driving, canoeing/kayaking/white water rafting, motorised boating, sailing/sail boarding, fishing, cycling, bushwalking on formal tracks, caving, organised mountain biking, powered and non-powered flight (Worboys et al., 2005). In contrast in remote/wilderness areas, activities are mainly limited to bushwalking on nonhardened trails, fishing, camping without facilities, and crosscountry skiing.

3. Recreation and tourism impacts on vegetation in protected areas in Australia

Associated with increasing visitation to protected areas, there is increasing recognition of, and research into, the impacts from recreation and tourism. This paper provides a review of research on recreation and tourism impacts on vegetation in Australia with an emphasis on research published since Sun and Walsh's (1998) general review of environmental impacts of recreation and tourism in Australia. We concentrate on Australian research that is international significant, which examines impacts not previously described, or ecosystems for which there is limited existing research or that tests current models in recreation ecology theory.

3.1. Impacts associated with infrastructure for tourism and recreation

Recreation and tourism results in impacts in Australian protected areas, both from infrastructure and the activities themselves. The most obvious and direct impact is vegetation clearance in order to provide infrastructure. Although recreation and tourism infrastructure within protected areas is limited, there are often tracks, trails, roads, lookouts, fixed campsites and other types of accommodation provided, all of which have impacts (Table 2, Newsome et al., 2002a). In the construction of huts, lodges, hotels, roads, campgrounds and other facilities, native vegetation is cleared and replaced by either non-native vegetation or a built environment (Table 2, Spellerberg, 1998). However, damage is not just restricted to the initial removal of native vegetation. For example, the construction and use of roads and tracks can result in changes to hydrology and soils including erosion, sedimentation and pollutant runoff in adjacent areas (Table 2, Buckley and Pannell, 1990; Spellerberg, 1998; Newsome

et al., 2002a). In addition roads and campsites can act as corridors/sites for the introduction and spread of pathogens and weeds (Table 2, Spellerberg, 1998; Newsome et al., 2002a; Buckley et al., 2004). Two of the classic studies examining the role of cars as vectors for weed seeds were conducted in Australia (Wace, 1977; Lonsdale and Lane, 1994).

A recent study comparing vegetation and soils on road verges and adjacent areas in the subalpine zone of

Kosicuszko National Park in New South Wales (Johnston and Johnston, 2004) found that soils on the road verges had significantly lower levels of humus, more gravel and sand, lower levels of nutrients and lower pH and electrical conductivity than soils sampled 10 m away from the roads where there was native vegetation. In drainage areas just below the road, soils were also affected with significantly higher amounts of sediment, soil pH, and exchangeable levels of calcium and potassium than the roadside or natural areas. Vegetation composition and cover also differed, with roadsides having more bare ground (28%), and weed cover, than the nearby natural areas (2%) bare ground, 6% weed cover). The drainage areas were dominated by one weed (Achillea millefolium-yarrow), which accounted for 91% of the ground cover (Johnston and Johnston, 2004).

Although the total area allocated to recreation and tourism infrastructure may be relatively small compared to the total area of a park, the impacts at that site are severe and often permanent (Smith and Newsome, 2002; Pickering and Buckley, 2003; Turton, 2005; Scherrer and Pickering, 2006). Also with linear disturbances such as those due to tracks and roads, the total area of disturbance may appear small, but due to the length of the road and verge effects and the area of impact on the verges, the actual footprint can be much larger (Spellerberg, 1998; Priskin, 2003; Donaldson and Bennet, 2004; Johnston and Johnston, 2004; Turton, 2005; Hill and Pickering, 2006). For example, a study on different track types in the alpine zone in Australia, demonstrated that the direct footprint on native vegetation (e.g. area of exotic plants or bare ground associated with the track) was 4290 m²/km for wide gravel tracks (1 car width), $2940 \text{ m}^2/\text{km}$ for narrow gravel tracks, and $2680 \text{ m}^2/\text{km}$ for a track made from pavers (Hill and Pickering, 2006). However, a raised steel mesh walkway that was installed in the 1980s was not associated with either bare ground or a significant cover of exotics, indicating that careful selection of track type can dramatically reduce the direct environmental impact of such infrastructure on vegetation.

A common problem is that increasing recreation and tourism use of a site can often result in park managers

Table 2	
Recent Australian research that has commented impacts on	vegetation of recreation and tourism infrastructure

Impacts\type of activities	Campgrounds	Huts	Lodges, hotels, etc.	Roads	Tracks
Vegetation damage	1, 2, 3	4	4	5	6, 7, 8, 9, 11
Change in hydrology	2		4	5	8
Changes in soil conditions	1, 2, 3	4	4, 10	5	8, 9, 11
Spread of weeds	2, 3	4	4, 12	5, 12, 13, 18, 19	8,12
Spread of pathogens	*		*	5, 14, 15, 16, 17	15,16

References: (1) Turton et al. (2000a); (2) Smith and Newsome (2002); (3) Turton (2005); (4) Buckley et al. (2000); (5) Donaldson and Bennet (2004); (6) McDougall and Wright (2004); (7) Hill and Pickering (2006); (8) Johnston and Johnston (2004); (9) Turton et al. (2000b); (10) Walker (1991); (11) Day and Turton (2000); (12) Johnston and Pickering (2001); (13) McDougall (2001); (14) Weste (1998); (15) Worboys and Gadek (2004); (16) Newsome (2003); (17) Cowie and Werner (1993); (18) Bear et al. (in press); (19) Johnston et al. (in press).

hardening the site with a gradual change from natural to urban environment (Buckley and Pannell, 1990; Pickering and Buckley, 2003; Donaldson and Bennet, 2004; Worboys et al., 2005). Also, there can be changes in the expectations of visitors, with those participating in mass tourism in protected areas often requiring more sophisticated, hardened facilities than those engaging in backcountry activities. An alternative strategy is closure of some sites and/or education programs for visitors (Worboys et al., 2005). These approaches can be very successful as has been found on Fraser Island World Heritage area, where appropriate education has reduced the number of badly impacted camping sites even during peak usage periods (Hockings and Twyford, 1997).

3.2. Impacts associated with tourism activities

In addition to the impacts associated with infrastructure, there are impacts associated with recreation and tourism activities that do not require infrastructure, particularly those that occur in the backcountry. The most obvious impacts on vegetation from popular back country activities such as camping, horse riding, walking, off-road driving and mountain biking include vegetation being crushed, sheared off, and uprooted (Table 3, Liddle, 1997; Newsome et al., 2002a). These impacts result in changes to the vegetation including loss of height, biomass, reproductive structures (flowers, fruit, etc.), reduction in cover, increased litter, damage to seedlings and change in species composition (Table 3). Just as for tourism infrastructure, back country activities can also be associated with changes to the hydrology of the site, soil conditions including nutrients

and erosion, as well as the introduction of weeds and pathogens (Table 3).

Direct impacts of recreation and tourism activities that are often less recognised/reported include root damage to trees by tethered horses or holes dug for human or other waste, trees cut for firewood and/or vandalism of vegetation at sites, and wildflowers and epiphytes harvested (Liddle, 1997; Newsome et al., 2002b; Phillips and Newsome, 2002; Smith and Newsome, 2002; Bridle and Kirkpatrick, 2003). For example, a common minimum impact guideline for camping and walking in backcountry areas is to dispose of human faeces and toilet paper by burying it small holes. However, when the impacts of digging these "cat-holes" was experimentally tested across a range of vegetation types in Tasmania it was found that digging holes damaged vegetation with lower overlapping cover after digging compared to before digging for a wide range of communities (Bridle and Kirkpatrick, 2003).

3.3. Factors that affect impacts from recreation and tourism

The extent of damage to vegetation from recreation and tourism will be influenced by factors such as the type of infrastructure provided, the amount of use of areas, the type of activity, the behaviour of tourists and the season of use (Liddle, 1997; Cole, 2004; Table 4). Some of the impacts of infrastructure have already been described in previous sections. When comparing different recreation activities it is commonly considered that cars tend to cause more damage that horse riding, which causes more damage than mountain bikes, which in turn cause more damage

Table 3

Recent /	Australian	research	that h	ias d	locumented	impacts	on	vegetation	from	tourism a	and	recreation activitie	es
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				~		** ****				

Impacts\type of activities	4WD	Horse-riding	Walking of tracks	Backcountry camping	Mountain-biking
Vegetation clearing/damage	1. 2	2, 3, 4, 5	2, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10	2. 8	2
Reduction in height	,	11. 12	10	10	
Reduced living biomass		4	7, 13, 16		
Reduced cover	1	3, 4, 11, 12	6, 7, 9, 10, 13, 15, 16	8	
Change in litter		3	9, 10	10	
Damage to seedlings				8	
Changes in species	2	11, 12	2, 10, 15	8	
composition					
Damage to trees (cutting,			12	8, 10	
etc), eating					
Reduction in surface profile		4	7, 8, 13		
Soil loss	1, 2	3, 11, 12	2		14
Soil compaction/change in	,	11	9, 10	8, 10	14
soil moisture			,		
Change in hydrology	1	5	2,9	8	2
Spread of weeds	2	2, 4, 5, 11	2	2, 8	2
Spread of pathogens	2	2, 11	2	2	2

References: (1) Priskin (2002) (inferred from changes in number of tracks on aerial photos); (2) Turton (2005); (3) Whinam and Comfort (1996); (4) Whinam et al. (1994); (5) Landsberg et al. (2001); (6) Hill and Pickering (2006); (7) Whinam and Chilcott (1999); (8) Smith and Newsome (2002); (9) Talbot et al. (2003); (10) Growcock (2005); (11) Newsome et al. (2002b); (12) Phillips and Newsome (2002); (13) Whinam and Chilcott (2003); (14) Goeff and Alder (2001); (15) McDougall and Wright (2004); (16) Whiman et al. (2003).

Table 4

	Recent Australian research in	o factors that affect th	ne amount of damage	from tourism and	recreation activities
--	-------------------------------	--------------------------	---------------------	------------------	-----------------------

	Recent studies
Factor associated with activity	
Type of activity	Growcock (2005); Turton (2005).
Amount of use	Whinam et al. (1994); Goeft and Alder (2001); Landsberg et al. (2001); Newsome et al. (2002a, b); Phillips and
	Newsome (2002); Whinam and Chilcott (2003); Whinam et al. (2003); Talbot et al. (2003); Growcock (2005); Turton (2005).
Size of camping group	Smith and Newsome (2002); Growcock (2005).
Behaviour of user group	Newsome et al. (2002a,b); Smith and Newsome (2002); Turton et al. (2000b); Growcock (2005).
Factors associated with environment	
Resistances/resilience of vegetation	Whinam et al. (1994); Whinam and Comfort (1996); Turton et al. (2000b); Bridle and Kirkpatrick (2003); Talbot et al. (2003); Whinam and Chilcott (2003); Whinam et al. (2003); Growcock et al. (2004); McDougall and Wright (2004); Growcock (2005).
Topography site	Goeft and Alder (2001); Whinam and Chilcott (2003); Whinam et al. (2003).
Soil characteristics including	Whinam et al. (1994); Whinam and Chilcott (1999); Arrowsmith and Inbakaran (2001); Talbot et al. (2003);
drainage	Whinam et al. (2003); Growcock et al. (2004).
Climatic zone	Whinam et al. (1994); Bridle and Kirkpatrick (2003); Talbot et al. (2003); Whinam and Chilcott (2003); Whinam et al. (2003); Growcock (2005).
Seasonality	Buckley et al. (2004); DPIWE (2005); Turton (2005).

that walking (Liddle, 1997). This was found in recent Australian research in the Wet Tropics of Queensland World Heritage area, where trails used for mountain biking had higher levels of soil erosion and exposed rocks and tree roots than high-use walking trails (Day and Turton, 2000). Correspondingly, in studies comparing trampling and camping impacts in the Australian Alps, short stay camping (three nights) by small groups (four people) had limited impact on vegetation height and cover (although there were fire scars and axe damage to trees), while experimental trampling, particularly at high number of passes had a range of impacts on vegetation and recovery took longer (Growcock, 2005).

It is generally recognised that increased tourism use results in increased damage (Liddle, 1997; Newsome et al., 2002a; Cole, 2004; Newsome et al., 2004). This has been found in a wide range of experimental studies including in different vegetation types in Australia (Table 4). However, what is not clear is the form of the relationship with some studies indicating that the proportionally greatest damage occurs at low levels of use (Cole, 1995a, 2004), while other research has found that low levels of use may not cause damage in grassland communities (Growcock, 2005).

The size of a user party can also influence the area of damage with larger parties often causing a disproportionate amount of damage. For example, larger groups at campsites tend to cause more damage than smaller groups. In a study comparing impacts at high-use formal campsites and low-use informal campsites, in old growth eucalypt forest in a protected area in Western Australia, the highuse formal campsites were larger (mean size 876 m²), had more tree damage, soil erosion, soil compaction, along with reduced vegetation cover and tree seedlings, greater degradation to riverbanks and more foot pads than the low-use informal campsites (177 m^2) (Smith and Newsome, 2002).

Behaviour can affect the intensity of impacts that may occur (Liddle, 1997; Cole, 2004, Table 4). Where user groups are aware of minimal impact behaviour, such as those in 'leave no trace campaigns', impacts may be reduced through careful consideration of campsite location, routes for hiking or riding, disposal of waste, etc. (Hercock, 1999; Cole, 2004; Growcock, 2005). Where such codes of behaviour are ignored or unknown, impacts can be more severe (Hercock, 1999; Growcock, 2005). For example the degree of impact from camping in the Wet Tropics in Queensland appeared to be associated with both the behaviour and type of user (Turton et al., 2000b). Lowuse camping areas that were predominantly used by local residents had more litter, with more development of the site (fire rings, seating made from vegetation), more social trails, and more tree damage (including for firewood) compared to high-use camping areas where most visitors were not local.

Park managers have legislative requirements to manage recreation in ways that mitigate impacts and ensure that activities are ecologically sustainable. Recreation management includes prescribing the areas where particular activities are conducted and, less commonly limiting, visitor numbers or the size of groups. There appear to be few instances in Australia where either a maximum group size or a maximum number of groups/season are imposed (Hill and Pickering, 2002).

There are a range of environmental factors which can affect the amount of damage to vegetation by recreation and tourism activities. These include the characteristics of the vegetation, the topography of the site, soil characteristics, climatic zone and seasonality (Liddle, 1997; Cole, 2004, Table 4). Studies in Australia along with those overseas have found that vegetation varies in its resistance and resilience to disturbance (Cole, 1995a, b; Liddle, 1997, Newsome et al., 2002a; Cole, 2004; Newsome et al., 2004, Table 4). Resistance is the relative ability of individual species to withstand disturbance before being damaged while resilience is the relative capacity of the vegetation to recover after disturbance (Liddle, 1997).

Aspects of plant morphology can affect resistance to damage, with some life-forms (low growing graminods, etc.) more resistant than others (shrubs, some forbs, etc. Cole, 1995b). As a result communities dominated by resistant life-forms will be damaged at higher use levels than sensitive communities dominated by life-forms such as shrubs (Cole, 1995a, b, Liddle, 1997; Whinam et al., 1994; Whinam and Chilcott, 2003; Growcock, 2005). Correspondingly plants vary in their resilience, resulting in some communities recovering faster from disturbance (Liddle, 1997). Generally there are three types of response: (1) species with high resistances, but are slow to recover once damaged; (2) species with low resistances but are relative fast to recover; and (3) species that have low resistance and low resilience and therefore are susceptible to damage from trampling and other types of visitor use (Liddle, 1997).

An example of how vegetation varies in resistance and resilience is seen from experimental trampling trials in the high country of Tasmania (Whinam and Chilcott, 1999; Whinam and Chilcott, 2003; Whinam et al., 2003). Trampling had a range of negative effects on the vegetation, with the degree of damage increasing with the number of passes by a walker. It also varied depending on the life form of the plants, with shrubs, tall tussock graminoids and cushion plants more susceptible to damage than lower growing graminoids (Whinam and Chilcott, 1999, Whinam and Chilcott, 2003; Whinam et al., 2003). The time taken for recovery also varied with intensity of use and life-form, with damage (changes in species richness, more bare ground, lower surface profile) still apparent in many communities 3-5 years after trampling (Whinam et al., 2003).

Differences in resistance and resilience to trampling can result in changes in species richness, with those taxa that are susceptible to damage lost from a community, while other taxa may increase in cover or even colonise disturbed areas. Trampling of the fragile feldmark vegetation along the ridges of the highest mountains in Australia resulted in a decrease in native species richness on tracks compared to adjacent vegetation, as well as a decline in the abundance of some species including the dominant prostrate shrub (McDougall and Wright, 2004). The shrubs in the feldmark have low resistance to trampling as the dominant shrub Epacris microphylla has brittle stems that are easily broken. Feldmark species are also characterised by exceptionally slow growth rates, and so will take decades to recovery from damage (McDougall and Wright, 2004).

Much of this and other trampling research has been conducted on low growing vegetation types (Cole, 2004). One of few studies worldwide examining trampling impacts in tropical forests found that species with broad thin leaves, year round growth, and occurring on moist friable soils that are easily compacted, had low resistance to trampling with reduction in vegetation cover occurring after as few as 25 passes (Talbot et al., 2003). Also in the Wet Tropics experimental day-use and camping trials reduced canopy cover and decreased cover of seedlings compared to controls with the extent of damage varying among forest types (rainforests, wet sclerophyll forest and littoral rainforest, Turton et al., 2000b).

Abiotic site characteristics such topography and hydrology will also affect the amount of damage from recreation and tourism activities (Table 4). Hiking, walking and bike riding on steep slopes causes greater damage than on flatter terrain (Goeft and Alder, 2001; Whinam and Chilcott, 2003). In Tasmanian alpine national parks, for example, experimental trampling on sloping buttongrass communities caused soil to become exposed and accumulate downslope after just 200 passes (Whinam and Chilcott, 2003). However, substrate type can offset the effect of slope. In a study of impacts of tracks in the Grampians National Park in Victoria, there was more damage to vegetation and soils along tracks at lower elevations where soils were deeper than at higher elevations where the tracks traversed rocky outcrops (Arrowsmith and Inbakaran, 2001).

Climatic zone also appears to affect the response of vegetation to recreational and tourism use (Table 4). For example, Australian research confirms overseas research that has found high-altitude vegetation communities are often more susceptible to damage than lower-altitude communities (Liddle, 1997; Table 4). Within a climatic zone, vegetation types can differ in their response to various intensities and types of impacts. In the Wet Tropics of Queensland, for example, rainforest, littoral forests and wet scherlophyll forests differed in the effect of day-use and camping on canopy cover, mineral soil exposure, soil compaction, vegetation cover and seedling density (Turton et al., 2000b). Wet sclerophyll forests were the most resistant, with rainforest intermediate and littoral forest the least resistant.

The resistance and resilience of vegetation can vary seasonally affecting the intensity of damage that may occur from a particular activity (Table 4). For example, the spread of pathogens such as the root rot fungus *Phytophthora cinnamomi* by mud on the boots of walkers and tires of vehicles varies with season, with wet periods resulting in a great risk of spread (Buckley et al., 2004; DPIWE, 2005). In the Wet Tropics of Queensland there were seasonal effects of tourism use with greater soil compaction, and lower seedling densities adjacent to walking tracks in the wet season compared to adjacent unused forest in the dry season (Turton, 2005).

3.4. Indirect impacts from tourism and recreation

Direct impacts from human activities may also be exacerbated by indirect impacts (Good, 1995; Buckley, 2003). Although there has been increasing recognition of the importance of indirect impacts of tourism on native vegetation in protected areas there has been far less research in this area (Buckley, 2003, 2005). Also, some indirect impacts can be self-sustaining: that is they can continue to occur even in the absence of further tourism use of the site (Buckley, 2003). Recent Australian research has highlighted self-sustaining indirect impacts including from increased nutrients and the introduction and spread of weeds and pathogens.

3.4.1. Addition of nutrients

Disposal of human waste (such as urine and faecal material) has direct effects such as removal of vegetation in order to dig a hole, but also has indirect effects through the addition of nutrients which can result in a change to species composition due to competitive displacement. This can create feedbacks for continuing change and also benefit weed species, leading to changes in vegetation communities. Research in Tasmania found a beneficial effect of low levels of nutrient addition (artificial urine) on vegetation, with increased growth of many taxa, with the only obvious negative effects on moss at one site (Bridle and Kirkpatrick, 2003).

Research on tourism impacts has highlighted how direct introduction of nutrients and/or re-suspension of sediments associated with swimming in dune lakes at Fraser Island in Queensland, affected algal growth, resulting in changes to ecosystem function (Hadwen and Bunn, 2004). This research also found that new methodologies may be required to detect these more subtle effects of recreation and tourism use.

3.4.2. Impacts of weeds

Another indirect and potentially self-sustaining impact of tourism is the accidental introduction of weed propagules on visitors' shoes, clothing and equipment. The risk associated with even low numbers of visitors to remote areas was recently highlighted in a study examining propagule load on people (in this case expeditioners) visiting a remote subantarctic island (Whinam et al., 2005). The study found 981 propagules on the clothing and equipment of just 64 people. High-risk items were equipment cases, daypacks and the cuffs and velcro closures on outer clothing. As a result there have been policy changes regarding clothing for people visiting subantarctic islands as part of expeditions from Australia.

Another important issue, in Australia and overseas, is the potential for exotics to spread from areas disturbed by tourism infrastructure into natural vegetation. In Australian protected areas, the verges of tracks and trails are often characterised by high diversity and cover of exotics, however, not all these species spread into undisturbed native vegetation and become important environmental weeds (Mallen-Cooper, 1990; Williams and West, 2000; Johnston and Pickering, 2001; Godfree et al., 2004; Johnston, 2005). Recent research in the Snowy Mountains in Australia has compared the ecological traits of species that spread compared with those that remain restricted to road and track verges (Godfree et al., 2004).

3.4.3. Impact of pathogens

Another important example of an indirect and selfsustaining impact of tourism is the spread of *P. cinnamomi* in protected areas in Australia. This root rot fungus is a threat to vegetation including many plants that are already classified as rare and threatened. This is discussed further in the following section.

4. Tourism impacts on rare and threatened plants

For rare and threatened plants the impacts of tourism are particularly severe as these species are already at risk of extinction. However, the impacts of tourism on rare flora including that in protected areas has not been generally recognised as a specific type of threat, even though there is evidence of negative environmental impacts from tourism on these taxa in protected areas (Kelly et al., 2003).

One clear example of tourism threatening rare and endangered plants is through the spread of the exotic soilborne pathogen P. cinnamomi (Newsome, 2003; Schahinger et al., 2003; Buckley et al., 2004; DPIWE, 2005; Turton, 2005). This threat has been recognised nationally and it is listed as a key threatening process by the Australian Government (Environment Australia, 2001), and by the NSW government in the Threatened Species Conservation Act 1995. Tourism contributes to the spread of P. cinnamomi by transportation of spores in mud on footwear, tent pegs, trowels, horse hooves, bike tires and other types of vehicles. It is also spread during the construction and maintenance of tourism infrastructure (Newsome, 2003; Buckley et al., 2004; Donaldson and Bennet, 2004; Worboys and Gadek, 2004; DPIWE, 2005). Tourism can also contribute to the pathogen's impact by increasing the stress on plants within infected areas (Buckley et al., 2004).

In addition to the damage it causes to more common taxa, in Western Australia *P. cinnamomi* is a threat to at least 31 plant taxa already at risk of extinction with another 39 possibly susceptible, while in Tasmania, there are 39 plant taxa already at risk of extinction that are susceptible to infection (Barker and Wardlaw, 1995; Environment Australia, 2001; Schahinger et al., 2003; DPIWE, 2005). It is currently found in protected areas in Western Australia (e.g. up to 70% Stirling Range National Park) South Australia (Mount Lofty Ranges, Fleurieu Peninsula, Kangaroo Island), Victoria (Wilson's Promontory) and Tasmania (Southwest National Park, Freycinet National Park) (Newsome, 2003; Environment Australia, 2001; Newsome et al., 2002a; Schahinger et al., 2003;

Buckley et al., 2004; Worboys and Gadek, 2004; DPIWE, 2005; Turton, 2005).

Quarantine and hygiene are the main strategies that have been implemented by protected area managers to combat this threat. Some parks have permanent or seasonal closures of specific tracks, or sections within a park, or in a few cases whole parks are closed particularly in severely affected areas of Western Australia and South Australia (Newsome, 2003; Newsome et al., 2002a; Buckley et al., 2004). Hygiene procedures to minimise the spread of spores are implemented through education programs (signs, leaflets, etc.) which encourage/require visitors to wash down vehicles, boots, tent pegs, etc. when entering and leaving sites, and in some cases to visit uninfected sites before infected sites (Buckley et al., 2004; DPIWE, 2005).

5. Recommendations for future ecological research

In Australia, as overseas, much of the published research on recreation and tourism impacts on vegetation had quite a narrow focus concentrating on trampling and camping and horse riding (Sun and Walsh, 1998; Newsome et al., 2002a; Buckley, 2005, Table 3). There is limited research on the impacts of visitor infrastructure in protected areas, or into indirect impacts, including those that are self-sustaining (Buckley, 2002, 2003, 2005).

Based on the review here, consultation with protected area staff, discussions with researchers in recreational ecology, and the findings of Buckley's (2002) evaluation of ecotourism industry and protected area managers priorities a series of key areas for future ecological research are identified:

- (1) Research into a range of visitor activities (camping, trampling, etc.) on Australian vegetation looking at levels of resistance and resilience. There are limited data for impacts of camping and trampling in rainforests, arid regions and deserts and swamp/bogs/fens in Australia and overseas. In Australia, there also needs to be more research into the impacts of mountain biking, rock-climbing and off-road driving which are increasing in popularity.
- (2) Self-propagating, ecologically important indirect impacts of tourism and recreation such as the spread of weeds and pathogens.

Weeds have been identified as an important threat to the environment at all levels of government in Australia (Csuches and Edwards, 1998; Williams and West, 2000; Environment Australia, 2006). For protected areas it is important to determine how tourists may be introducing exotics and to identifying and characterising exotic plants that spread from tracks and trails into natural vegetation.

Correspondingly there is a need for more research into the dispersal of pathogens such as the fungus, *P. cinnamomi*, by visitors and vehicles. The severity of the threat from *P. cinnamomi* has been recognised nationally (Key Threatening Process, Environment Australia, 2001), by park agency staff and researchers (Schahinger et al., 2003). Although a range of studies have examined the fungus and its impacts more research is required into identifying susceptible species and to determine if vegetation eventually recovers.

(3) There is limited research into the impact of tourism infrastructure in Australia including comparisons of ecological costs/benefits of various types of tourism infrastructure.

6. Research needs for managing/monitoring of impacts

In addition to ecological research there is a need for further research into the best ways to monitor impacts and to manage impacts and tourists. This includes research into:

- (1) Restoration ecology—how far and how fast impacted sites can recover if closed to visitors and how recovery can be accelerated. Rehabilitating sites damaged by infrastructure and visitor use is often expensive, ongoing and unfortunately, not always successful. Evaluating the success of different restoration methods remains a priority for many park agencies.
- (2) Evaluating the impacts and benefits of different types of infrastructure once introduced through establishing monitoring programmes with ecologically appropriate indicators.
- (3) Evaluating the success of specific management practices such those associated with limiting the spread of weeds and pathogens. For example, it is important to determine current quarantine practices are limiting the spread of root rot.
- (4) Evaluating the extent and degree of 'impact creep', i.e. the gradual cumulative increase in impacts associated with increasing visitor numbers through incremental hardening of sites or displacement of activities from high-intensity tourism nodes into backcountry areas.
- (5) Evaluate the success, cost and usefulness of current monitoring programs.

7. Conclusions

There are many threats to vegetation in Australian protected areas from tourism. Greater recognition needs to be given to this by protected area managers. Although the flora is internationally significant and protected area tourism is very popular there is still limited research on direct and indirect impacts of tourism for many Australian plant communities. Based on this review it is possible to identify future directions for research, and recommendations for current research.

Acknowledgements

This research was funded by the Sustainable Tourism Cooperative Research Centre for Sustainable Tourism, an initiative of the Australian Government. Sections of this paper are based on an unpublished report submitted to the Sustainable Tourism Cooperative Research Centre at the completion of the research project. My thanks to all those who have provided comments on drafts of this review including Andrew Growcock and three anonymous reviewers.

References

- Arrowsmith, C., Inbakaran, R., 2001. Estimating environmental resiliency for the Grampians National Park, Victoria, Australia: a quantitative approach. Tourism Management 23, 295–309.
- Barker, P.C.J., Wardlaw, T.J., 1995. Susceptibility of selected Tasmania rare plants to *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. Australian Journal of Botany 43, 379–386.
- Barlow, B.A., 1994. Phytogeography of the Australian region. In: Groves, R.H. (Ed.), Australian Vegetation, second ed. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 3–36.
- Bear, R., Hill, W., Pickering, C.M., 2006. Distribution and diversity of exotic plant species in montane to alpine areas of Kosciuszko National Park. Cunninghamia 9 (4), 559–570.
- Bridle, K.L., Kirkpatrick, J.B., 2003. Impacts of nutrient additions and digging for human waste disposal in natural environments, Tasmania, Australia. Journal of Environmental Management 69, 299–306.
- Buckley, R., 2002. Managing tourism in parks: research priorities of industry associations and protected area agencies in Australia. Journal of Ecotourism 1, 162–172.
- Buckley, R., 2003. Ecological indicators of tourism impacts in Parks. Journal of Tourism 2, 54–66.
- Buckley, R., 2004a. Impacts positive and negative: links between ecotourism and environment. In: Buckley, R. (Ed.), Environmental Impacts of Ecotourism. CABI Publishing, New York, pp. 1–14.
- Buckley, R., 2004b. Environmental impacts of motorized off-highway vehicles. In: Buckley, R. (Ed.), Environmental Impacts of Ecotourism. CABI Publishing, New York, pp. 83–93.
- Buckley, R., 2005. Recreation ecology research effort: an international comparison. Tourism Recreation Research 30, 99–101.
- Buckley, R., Pannell, J., 1990. Environmental impacts of tourism and recreation in national parks and conservation reserves. Journal of Tourism Studies 1, 24–32.
- Buckley, R.C., Pickering, C.M., Warnken, J., 2000. Environmental management for alpine tourism and resorts in Australia. In: Goode, P.M., Price, M.F., Zimmerman, F.M. (Eds.), Tourism and Development in Mountain Regions. CABI Publishing, New York, pp. 27–46.
- Buckley, R., King, N., Zubrinich, T., 2004. The role of tourism in spreading dieback disease in Australian Vegetation. In: Buckley, R. (Ed.), Environmental Impacts of Ecotourism. CABI Publishing, New York, pp. 317–324.
- Cole, D.N., 1995a. Experimental trampling of vegetation I. Relationship between tramping intensity and vegetation response. Journal of Applied Ecology 32, 203–214.
- Cole, D.N., 1995b. Experimental trampling of vegetation II. Predictors of resistance and resilience. Journal of Applied Ecology 32, 215–224.
- Cole, D.N., 2004. Impacts of hiking and camping on soils and vegetation: a review. In: Buckley, R. (Ed.), Environmental Impacts of Ecotourism. CABI Publishing, New York, pp. 41–60.
- Collaborative Australian Protected Areas Database (CAPAD), 2004. Area of terrestrial protected areas. Department of the Environment and Heritage, Canberra.
- Cowie, I.D., Werner, P.A., 1993. Alien plant species invasive in Kakadu National park, tropical northern Australia. Biological Conservation 63, 127–135.
- Csuches, S., Edwards, R., 1998. Potential Environmental Weeds in Australia. Queensland Department of Natural Resources, Brisbane.
- Day, T.J., Turton, S.M., 2000. Ecological impacts of recreation along mountain bike and walking tracks. In: Bentrupperbaumer, J.M.,

Reser, J.P. (Eds.), Impacts of visitation and Use in the Wet Tropics of Queensland World Heritage Area Stage 2. Wet Tropics Management Authority and Rainforest CRC, Cairns, pp. 143–152.

- Department of Environment and Heritage (DEH), 2003. National Biodiversity Hotspots. Department of Environment and Heritage, Canberra.
- Department of Environment and Heritage (DEH), 2005. National list of extinct, extinct in wild, critically endangered, endangered, vulnerable and conservation dependent plant species. Online documents at URL <http://www.deh.gov.au/cgi-bin/sprat/public/publicthreatenedlist.pl?-wanted=flora > (accessed 1 July 2005).
- Department of the Environment, Sport and Territories (DEST), 1994. Australia's Biodiversity: an overview of selected significant components. Biodiversity Series Paper No. 2. Australian Government, Canberra.
- Department of Primary Industries, Water and Environment (DPIWE), 2005. Managing *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. Online documents at URL <http://www.dpiwe.tas.gov.au/inter.nsf/WebPages/EGIL-53Y8FA?o-pen > (accessed 1 July 2005).
- Donaldson, A., Bennet, A., 2004. Ecological Effects of Roads: Implications for the Internal Fragmentation of Australian Parks and Reserves. Parks Victoria Technical Paper Series No. 12. Parks Victoria, Melbourne.
- Environment Australia, 2001. Threat Abatement Plan for Dieback Caused by the Root-rot Fungus *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. Department of the Environment and Heritage, Australian Government, Canberra.
- Environment Australia, 2006. Environmental Weeds in Australia. <http:// www.deh.gov.au/biodiversity/invasive/weeds/> (accessed January 2006).
- Godfree, R., Brendan, L., Mallinson, D., 2004. Ecological filtering of exotic plants in an Australian sub-alpine environment. Journal of Vegetation Sciences 15, 227–236.
- Goeft, U., Alder, J., 2001. Sustainable mountain biking: a case study from the southwest of Western Australia. Journal of Sustainable Tourism 9, 193–211.
- Good, R., 1995. Ecologically sustainable development in the Australian Alps. Mountain Research and Development 15, 251–258.
- Growcock, A., 2005. Impacts of camping and trampling on australian alpine and subalpine vegetation and soils. PhD Thesis, School of Environmental and Applied Sciences, Griffith University, Gold Coast.
- Growcock, A.J., Pickering, C.M., Johnston, S.W., 2004. Walking on ashes: short-term impacts of experimental trampling on soils after bushfire. Victorian Naturalist 12, 199–206.
- Hadwen, W.L., Bunn, S.E., 2004. Tourists increase the contribution of autochthonous carbon to littoral food webs in oligotrophic dune lakes. Marine and Freshwater Research 55, 701–708.
- Hercock, M., 1999. The impacts of recreation and tourism in the remote North Kimberly region of Western Australia. The Environmentalist 19, 259–275.
- Hill, W., Pickering, C.M., 2002. Regulation of summer tourism in mountain conservation reserves in Australia. Mountain Tourism Research Report No. 2. Cooperative Research Centre for Sustainable Tourism, Griffith University, Gold Coast.
- Hill, W., Pickering, C.M., 2006. Vegetation associated with different walking track types in the Kosciuszko alpine area, Australia. Journal of Environmental Management 78, 24–34.
- Hockings, M., Twyford, K., 1997. Assessment and management of beach camping impacts within Fraser Island World Heritage Area, Southeast Queensland. Australian Journal of Environmental Management 4, 26–39.
- Johnston, F., 2005. Exotic plants in the Australian Alps including a case study of the ecology of *Achillea millefolium* in Kosciuszko National Park PhD Thesis, School of Environmental and Applied Sciences Griffith University, Gold Coast.
- Johnston, F.M., Johnston, S., 2004. Impacts of road disturbance on soil properties and on exotic plant occurrence in subalpine areas of the Australian Alps. Arctic, Antarctic and Alpine Research 36, 201–207.

- Johnston, F.M., Pickering, C.M., 2001. Alien plants in the Australian Alps. Mountain Research and Development 21, 284–291.
- Johnston, F., Hill, W., Pickering, C.M., (in press). Distribution, frequency and density of the weed *Achillea millefolium* (Yarrow) in the Snowy Mountains, Australia. Victorian Naturalist.
- Kelly, C., Pickering, C.M., Buckley, R.C., 2003. Impacts of tourism on threatened plants taxa and communities in Australia. Ecological Restoration and Management 4, 37–44.
- Landsberg, J., Logan, B., Shorthouse, D., 2001. Horse riding in urban conservation areas: reviewing scientific evidence to guide management. Ecological Management and Restoration 2, 36–46.
- Liddle, M., 1997. Recreation Ecology. Chapman & Hall, London.
- Lonsdale, W.M., Lane, A.M., 1994. Tourist vehicles as vectors of weed seeds in Kakadu National Park, northern Australia. Biological Conservation 69, 277–283.
- Leung, Y., Marion, J.L., 2000. Recreation impacts and management in wilderness: a state-of-knowledge review. In: Cole, D.N., McCool, S.F., Borrie, W.T., O'Loughlin, J. (Eds.), Wilderness Sciences in a Time of Change Conference. USDA Forestry Service, Ogden.
- Mallen-Cooper, J., 1990. Exotic plants in the high altitude environments of Kosciuszko National Park, South-eastern Australia. PhD Thesis. Department of Biogeography and Geomorphology, Research School of Pacific Studies, Australian National University, Canberra.
- McDougall, K.L., 2001. Colonization by alpine native plants of a stabilized road verge on the Bogong High Plains, Victoria. Ecological Management and Restoration 2, 4752.
- McDougall, K.L., Wright, G.T., 2004. The impacts of trampling on feldmark vegetation in Kosciuszko National Park, Australia. Australian Journal of Botany 52, 315–320.
- Newsome, D., 2003. The role of an accidentally introduced fungus in degrading the health of the Stirling Range National Park ecosystem in southwestern Australia: status and prognosis. In: Rapport, D.J., Lasely, W.L., Roslton, D.E., Nielsen, N.O., Qualset, C.O., Damania, A.B. (Eds.), Managing for Healthy Ecosystems. Lewis Publishers, London, pp. 375–387.
- Newsome, D., Moore, S.A., Dowling, R.K., 2002a. Natural Area Tourism: Ecology, Impacts and Management. Channel View Publications, Sydney.
- Newsome, D., Phillips, N., Milewskii, A., Annear, R., 2002b. Effects of horse riding on national parks and other natural ecosystems in Australia: implications for management. Journal of Ecotourism 1, 52–74.
- Newsome, D., Cole, D.N., Marion, J., 2004. Environmental impacts associated with recreational horse-riding. In: Buckley, R. (Ed.), Environmental Impacts of Ecotourism. CABI Publishing, New York, pp. 61–82.
- Phillips, N., Newsome, D., 2002. Understanding the impacts of recreation in Australian protected areas; quantifying damage caused by horse riding in D'Esntrecasteaux National Park, Western Australia. Pacific Conservation Biology 7, 256–273.
- Pickering, C.M., Buckley, R.C., 2003. Swarming to the summit: managing tourist at Mt Kosciuszko, Australia. Mountain Research and Development 23, 230–233.
- Priskin, J., 2003. Physical impacts of four-wheel drive related tourism and recreation in a semi-arid, natural coastal environment. Ocean and Coastal Management 46, 127–155.
- Schahinger, R., Rudman, T., Wardlaw, T., 2003. Conservation of tasmania plant species and communities threatened by *Phytophthora cinnamomi:* Strategic Regional Plan for Tasmania. Technical Report 03/03, Nature Conservation Branch, Department of Primary Industries, Water and Environment, Hobart.
- Scherrer, P., Pickering, C.M., 2006. Restoration of alpine herbfield vegetation on a closed walking track in the Snowy Mountains, Australia. Arctic, Antarctic and Alpine Research 38, 239–248.
- Smith, A., Newsome, D., 2002. An integrated approach to assessing, managing and monitoring campsite impacts in Warren National Park, Western Australia. Journal of Sustainable Tourism 10, 343–359.

- Spellerberg, I.F., 1998. Ecological effects on roads and traffic: a literature review. Global Ecology and Biogeography Letters 7, 317–333.
- Sun, D., Walsh, D., 1998. Review of studies on environmental impacts of recreation and tourism in Australia. Journal of Environmental Management 53, 323–338.
- Talbot, L.M., Turton, S.M., Graham, A.W., 2003. Trampling resistance of tropical rainforest soils and vegetation in the wet tropics of north east Australia. Journal of Environmental Management 69, 63–69.
- Turton, S.M., Kluck, T., Day, T.J., 2000a. Ecological impacts of recreation along walking tracks. In: Bentrupperbaumer, J.M., Reser, J.P. (Eds.), Impacts of Visitation and Use: Psychosocial and Biophysical Windows on Visitation and Use in the Wet Tropics World Heritage Area. Cooperative Research Centre for Tropical Rainforest Ecology and Management, Cains, pp. 135–142.
- Turton, S.M., Kluck, T., Day, T.J., 2000b. Ecological impacts of visitors at day-use and camping areas. In: Bentrupperbaumer, J.M., Reser, J.P. (Eds.), Impacts of Visitation and Use: Psychosocial and Biophysical Windows on Visitation and Use in the Wet Tropics World Heritage Area. Cooperative Research Centre for Tropical Rainforest Ecology and Management, Cains, pp. 123–134.
- Turton, S.M., 2005. Managing environmental impacts of recreation and tourism in rainforests at the Wet Tropics of Queensland World Heritage area. Geographical Research 43, 140–151.
- Wace, N., 1977. Assessment of dispersal of plants species: the car-borne flora in Canberra. Proceedings of the Ecological Society of Australia 10, 167–186.
- Walker, T.A., 1991. Tourism development and environmental limitations at Heron Island, Great Barrier Reef. Journal of Environmental Management 33, 117–122.
- Weste, G., 1998. Dieback at Wilsons Promontory. Is the Battle Won? Victorian Naturalist 115, 331–336.
- Whinam, J., Comfort, M., 1996. The impacts of commercial horse riding on sub-alpine environments at Cradle Mountain, Tasmania, Australia. Journal of Environmental Management 47, 61–70.
- Whinam, J., Chilcott, N., 1999. Impacts of trampling on alpine environments in central Tasmania. Journal of Environmental Management 57, 205–220.
- Whinam, J., Chilcott, N.M., 2003. Impacts after four years of experimental trampling on alpine/sub-alpine environments in western Tasmania. Journal of Environmental Management 67, 339–351.
- Whinam, J., Cannel, E.J., Kirkpatrick, J.B., Comfort, M., 1994. Studies on the potential impact of recreational horse riding on some alpine environments of the central plateau, Tasmania. Journal of Environmental Management 40, 103–117.
- Whinam, J., Chilcott, N., Ling, R., Wyatt, P., 2003. A method for calculating environmental sensitivity to walker trampling in the Tasmania World Heritage Area. In: Buckley, R., Pickering, C.M., Weaver, D.B. (Eds.), Nature-based Tourism, Environment and Land Management. CAB International, London.
- Whinam, J., Chilcott, N., Bergstrom, D.M., 2005. Subantarctic hitchhikers: expeditioners as vectors for the introduction of alien organisms. Biological Conservation 121, 207–219.
- Williams, J., West, C.J., 2000. Environmental weeds in Australia and New Zealand: issues and approaches to management. Austral Ecology 25, 425–444.
- Williams, J., Read, C., Norton, A., Dovers, S., Burgam, M., Procter, W., Anderson, H., 2001. Australia State of the Environment Report 2001 (Biodiversity Theme Report). Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation, Publishing on behalf of the Department of the Environment and Heritage, Australian Government, Canberra.
- Worboys, G., DeLacy, T., Lockwood, M., 2005. Protected Area Management: Principles and Practice, second ed. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Worboys, S.J., Gadek, P.A., 2004. Rainforest Dieback; Risks Associated with Roads and Walking Tracks in the Wet Tropics World Heritage Area. Rainforest Cooperative Research Centre, Cains.